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John of Gaunt’s Building Works at Dunstanburgh Castle

Malcolm Hislop

T is a lamentable fact that contemporary

documentation of medieval castle construc-
tion is all too rare. Where it does exist, recon-
ciling it with the physical remains is seldom
straightforward. The concise or ambiguous
nature of the documents themselves, and the
partlal destruction or modification of the build-
ings with which they are concerned, can both
lead to mistakes in interpretation. One such
case concerns the programme of building
works carried out during the 1380s by John of
Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster, and titular King of
Castille, at Dunstanburgh Castle on the North-
umbrian coast, a structural phase which con-
stitutes the most important modification to the
castle that Thomas Earl of Lancaster caused to
be bu11t in the first quarter of the fourteenth
century.' It is the purpose of this paper to
clarify the nature and purpose of John of
Gaunt’s works.

The construction sequence of the 1380s can
be gleaned from a series of documentary refer-
ences in the records of the Duchy of Lancaster.
On the 25th October 1380, an indenture was
drawn up between Gaunt and the Durham
master mason, John Lewyn, in which Lewyn
undertook to rebuild a battlemented mantlet of
freestone ‘““around the great tower” in the
Duke’s castle of Dunstanburgh.” The mantlet,
which was to be an estimated 11 rods in length,
20 ft high, including the battlements, and 4 ft
thick, had been completed by 17th July 1381
when John Lewyn received payment for this
and ‘““another work” of the Duke’s “device”.
Lewyn does not appear to have had any further
involvement in the project, for, on 1st Decem-
ber, John of Gaunt engaged a different master
mason, Henry Holme, to build “a new work of
masonry, beside and joining on to the new
mantlet”.* This had evidently been completed
by 20th July 1383, for on that date Gaunt

ordered his receiver to pay Holme £20 for
making “six houses with six vaults, six chim-
neys, and windows pertaining to the said hous-
es, and for the making of an entry and a
gatehouse with a vault and a portculhs and a
vice . .. beyond his agreement” On the same
day, an indenture was made in which Holme
agreed to make a new vaulted gatehouse of
freestone with a portcullis or barbican, and a
postern and provision for a drawbridge. Mat-
erials from the old gatehouse were to be taken
towards the use of the new.’

The general purport of John of Gaunt’s
scheme can be understood by an examination
of the existing remains. In building Dunstan-
burgh, Thomas of Lancaster enclosed the
promontory site with walls on the south, east
and west sides (the north side was protected by
a cliff rising sheer from the sea). At the south-
west angle he built a massive twin-towered
gatehouse which, even now, dominates the
main approach from the south. As well as
forming the principal entrance to the castle, the
gatehouse was its strongpoint from which its
defence would have been controlled, and it
also contained its main residential suite.” It was
in the vicinity of the gatehouse that the works
of the 1380s were concentrated.

Before John of Gaunt’s improvements, it is
assumed that the gatehouse gave direct access
to the main ward. There were two drawbacks
to this arrangement. Firstly, there was no sec-
ond line of defence beyond the gatehouse.
Secondly, the apartment on the second floor of
the gatehouse, which was probably that which
Gaunt himself might have occupied should he
have stayed at Dunstanburgh, was too easily
accessible at a time when lordly apartments
were becoming increasingly exclusive. Gaunt’s
reorganization tackled both problems; it result-
ed in the construction of an inner ward imme-
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Fig. 1 Dunstanburgh Castle: after English Heritage.

diately behind Thomas
gatehouse, with buildings around three sides
(which included a kitchen and bakehouse) and
a gatehouse at its north-east corner, the block-
ing of the main gateway at both ends so that
the gatehouse became a donjon, and the crea-
tion of a new outer gatehouse in the west
curtain with an elongate barbican. As a result,
the apartments in the great tower became more
remote and self contained, and access to them
could not only be subjected to a sustained

of Lancaster’s

defence, but, in addition, it echoed the staged
and drawn out approaches to the chambers of
the lord that are to be found in other four-
teenth century castles.’

Whilst the overall effect of John of Gaunt’s
improvements is clear, not all the component
parts of this scheme are readily identifiable.
There is now no trace of the six houses that
Henry Holme was paid for in 1383, though we

. may perhaps hazard the opinion that they were

identical single chamber lodgings possibly built
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within the inner ward for the accommodation

of members of John of Gaunt’s retinue."

Although no location was given for the entry

and gatehouse that were paid for at the same

- time as these “houses”, they are usually identi-
fied with the gateway to the inner ward and its
associated gatehouse tower, as there is little
doubt that the gatehouse of the 1383 indenture
is the outer gatehouse in the west curtain. The
stipulations that it was to have a portcullis or a
barbican, and a postern and provision for a
drawbridge, suggest a substantial outer gate-
way. The gatehouse itself appears to have been
a rectangular to_werll circa 50 ft by 25 ft, with a
recessed entrance to the roughly central gate-

" passage, and a portcullis. In front of the gate-
house was a rectangular barbican with an
entrance in its south side, also protected by a
portcullis. Adjoining this at the south-west
corner was a length of wall, the foundations of
which remain, that ran parallel with the west
curtain, as far as the north-west corner of
Thomas of Lancaster’s gatehouse, to which, at
this point, it returned towards, being pierced by
another gateway with portcullis, so that it
formed an outer barbican dominated by the old
gatehouse and west curtain.

H. L. Honeyman referred to this outer barbi-
can wall as the “mantlet built in 1380"." This
must be wrong: quite apart from the obvious
objections that this wall is not ‘“‘around the

- great tower”, that it is only 74 ft long rather
than the 11 rods specified in the indenture,"”
and that it was built of rubble rather than
freestone, Honeyman contradicts himself by
writing quite correctly elsewhere that ‘“The
barbican is clearly a later addition to the gate-
tower, and the mantlet wall in its turn an
addition to the barbican™." The English Herit-
age guidebook is equally contradictory. Whilst
acknowledging that the so called mantlet is that
“which the Durham architect, John Lewyn,
was engaged to construct in 1380”" it is never-
theless stated elsewhere that it was “built in the
late 1380s to control the approaches to John of
Gaunt’s gatehouse” of 1383.'

Whilst we may be certain that the outer
barbican wall is not to be identified with
Lewyn’s mantlet of 1380, we are left with the

problem of where the latter was situated. The
“great tower’’ of the indenture of 1380, that the
mantlet was to be around, must mean the great
gatehouse built by Thomas of Lancaster. The
only other building that might conceivably
have been meant is the Lilburn Tower, a large
square tower that projects from the west cur-
tain to protect a postern gate. However, there
is no sign of there having been any additional
works in its vicinity, whereas the area around
the gatehouse was subjected to intense building
activity. There are, therefore, only two possible
sites for the mantlet: in front of, or behind the
gatehouse. There is now no trace of any build-
ing that could be identified with the mantlet in
front of the gatehouse, neither has excavation
revealed any remains of such a structure.'” This
leaves only one possible site, so it is interesting
to note that as early as 1891, Cadwallader
Bates suggested that the mantlet might be
identified with the inner courtyard wall."®
Moreover, this wall complies with the con-
tractual stipulations that the mantlet was to be
around the great tower and made of freestone;
the combined lengths of the north and east
sections of the inner ward wall are approx-
imately 140 ft, but if the space occupied by the
north-east gatehouse is included, this gives a
total length of 184 ft, very close to the esti-
mated 11 rods calculated on a basis of 163 ft per

‘rod (1813 ft).

Henry Holme’s north-east gatehouse, then,
must be a modification to John Lewyn’s mant-
let. There are certainly signs that the wall has
been altered: towards the east end of the
northern section, the stone coursing is inter-
rupted by two vertical joints which define a
different structural phase, 11 ft 10 ins wide. Its
width, and its position almost directly opposite
Thomas of Lancaster’s gateway, which was
itself 11 ft 2 ins wide, suggest that it represents
a blocked gateway. The opening was filled in
by the rear wall of an oven which was built
within the inner ward, probably when Henry
Holme built his new entrance on the east side
of the ward.

John Harvey regarded the works of 1380-83
as related parts of a preconceived plan, and
identified Henry Holme’s ‘“new work of
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Fig. 2 The Gatehouse Dunstanburgh: after English Heritage with alterations.

masonry, beside and joining on to the new
mantlet”” with the unspecified “work™ of
Gaunt’s “device” made by Lewyn in 1380-81,
and concluded that “there can be little doubt
that Henry Holme simply continued what had
been designed and begun by Lewyn”." If the
above interpretation is correct then Harvey
must be wrong. His view is certainly not sup-
ported by the documents which suggest that
Lewyn’s work had been completed by July
1381. There followed an hiatus of four and a
half months before Henry Holme appeared on
the scene.

There is little doubt that John of Gaunt’s
improvements to Dunstanburgh were connec-
ted with his appointment as the king’s lieuten-
ant in the marches towards Scotland on 6th
September 1380. At this time, Dunstanburgh,
with its vast circuit of walls and windswept
interior, must have seemed neither tenable nor
hospitable, and no doubt Gaunt made his
headquarters at Bamburgh, the principal royal
castle of the area, which offered more commo-
dious accommodation and more formidable
defences.” Lewyn’s mantlet did nothing more
than provide Dunstanburgh with minimum
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standards of privacy, comfort and security for
the occupant of Thomas of Lancaster’s gate-
house. The second phase of the works com-
prised a more drastic remodelling of the area to
create a secure military base and exclusive
residence.

An explanation of why the second phase was
considered necessary may be found in the
hostility to Gaunt’s intervention in the north
on the part of the earl of Northumberland, the
most powerful of the border lords.” This ill-
feeling came to a head in the summer of 1381
during the Peasant’s Revolt. Gaunt, who was
one of the prime targets of the rebels’ displeas-
ure, was in the borders, and sought refuge with
the earl. Northumberland refused him_sanc-
tuary and Gaunt had to flee to Scotland.”

This episode may have caused Gaunt to pay
serious attention to the strengthening of Dun-
stanburgh, not only as an alternative refuge to
Bamburgh, but as a strategic counterbalance to
the earl’s neighbouring strongholds of Wark-
worth and Alnwick. It was very probably one
of the reasons why Gaunt subsequently
. attempted to exclude Northumberland from
the wardenships of the marches towards Scot-
land by advancing his own retainer, John Lord
Neville of Raby, at Northumberland’s expense,
a policy that began in December 1381 with the
appointment of Neville as sole warden of the
east march, and culminated in 1383 when he
was warden in both marches.” The works at
Dunstanburgh went hand in hand with
Neville’s advancement. On 1st December Hen-
ry Holme was engaged to resume work at
Dunstanburgh; he is last heard of in the inden-
ture of 1383 for the new gatehouse. By 1384
Gaunt had recognized the impossiblity of
ignoring the Percies in matters of border
defence, and had abandoned: the policy of
excluding Northumberland from the warden-
ships; in this year his commission lapsed.” It is
symbolic, perhaps, that after Gaunt’s with-
drawal from the sphere of border politics, he
carried out no further works of importance at
his castle of Dunstanburgh.
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